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MR JUSTICE CHARLES:     We have four appeals before us.  The Appellant in all of them is the London Borough of Lewisham.  All four cases last came before this Tribunal on 26 November 1998 when they were adjourned with liberty to restore.

1
This order was made primarily for two reasons:

(a)
failure to comply with the procedure laid down by this Tribunal concerning the production of documents, and

(b)  
to enable consideration to be given to a point that in paragraph 9 of the Extended Reasons given in all four cases the Employment Tribunal misquote section 98(4) of the Employment Rights Act 1996 by referring to misconduct rather than redundancy.

That second point has not been pursued before us.  In our judgment the Appellant was correct not to pursue this point because in our view the error is clearly a typing error, or a slip, and there is no realistic doubt that the Employment Tribunal must have meant to say “redundancy”.  

2
On the last occasion the matter came before this Tribunal the costs of the fourth Respondent, Mr Hill, in respect of that adjourned hearing were reserved to us.  We shall deal with this point straight away.

3
Mr Hill (the fourth Respondent) is separately represented.  Counsel on his behalf asked that he should have his costs of the adjourned hearing against the Appellant, or against the Appellant and the other Respondents.  His primary reason for asking for these costs is that he maintained that on the last occasion Mr Hill was in a position to deal with the appeal against the order made in his case and the adjournment was caused because documents had not been available to the Court which were relevant to the other appeals.  The submission was that the other parties had behaved unreasonably in the conduct of this appeal by failing to ensure that the relevant documents were before this Tribunal on the earlier occasion.  In response Counsel for the Appellant, and Counsel for the other Respondents, both explained that the reason the documents were not before the Tribunal on the last occasion was that the Employment Tribunal had not produced them in accordance with the direction made by this Tribunal.  It was accepted by both Counsel that none of the representatives of the parties had checked whether or not the Employment Tribunal had produced the bundle. Counsel for the Appellant and the first three Respondents also pointed out:

(a)
that the representatives of all the parties were at fault in not checking that the bundle had been produced by the Employment Tribunal, 

(b)
that if Counsel for the first three Respondents had not referred to the bundle in making his submissions to us it is likely that Counsel for the fourth Respondent would have made more extensive reference to the bundle when making his submissions, and

(c)
that, in any event, some reference was made by Counsel for the fourth respondent to witness statements contained in that bundle.

4
It follows that the submission made on behalf of the fourth Respondent is that in not checking that the bundle had been produced prior to the adjourned hearing, the representatives of the Appellant and the first three Respondents acted unreasonably and that one, or more, of the other parties should pay his costs of that hearing  because he would have been in a position to proceed at it.  We do not accept that submission for two main reasons.  First, we do not accept that in dealing with his appeal Mr Hill would not have wanted to, and needed to, make reference to the documents contained in the bundle.  Secondly in our judgment it would be too harsh to categorise the conduct of the representatives of the Appellant, or the other Respondents, as unreasonable when compared with the conduct of Mr Hill’s representatives.  In our view the primary responsibility for checking that this Tribunal had all the relevant documents lay on the Appellant and its representatives.  However, we also consider that the representatives of the other parties should have checked either with the Appellant, or this Tribunal, that the relevant documents were before this Tribunal on the last occasion.  In those circumstances we refuse the application of the fourth Respondent for his costs in respect of the adjourned hearing.  

5
We now turn to deal with the substantive appeals.  The four Respondents are 

(i)
a Mr Candy

(ii)
a Mr Cormack

(iii)
a Mr Hartigan

(iv)
a Mr Hill.

The Appeals

6
In respect of all four Respondents the Appellant appeals against the finding of the Employment Tribunal that each Respondent was unfairly dismissed.  These appeals raise similar points in respect of the four decisions of the Employment Tribunal.  The Extended Reasons for those decisions are in a very similar form.  Indeed, many of the paragraphs appear in each of the decisions.

7
In respect of the First and Second Respondents (i.e. Mr Candy and Mr Cormack) the Appellant also appeals against the decision of the Employment Tribunal to refuse its application to strike out the applications made by Mr Candy and Mr Cormack on the basis that they were out of time.

General Factual Background

8
All four Respondents were employed by the Appellant as roofers.  They were members of a team known as the Task Force Roofing Team which comprised 12 employees.  All four Respondents had been employed by the Appellant for a number of years.  All four Respondents were dismissed by the Appellant on the grounds of redundancy.

The Application to Strike Out

9
On 14 March 1996 the Appellant wrote to both Mr Candy and Mr Cormack (and indeed also to the other two Respondents) in the same terms, namely:

“You will be aware that due to the Council’s current financial situation, departments are required to make compensatory savings, and, as a result, the functions undertaken by Task Force Roofers have been reviewed on the basis of service, delivery, efficiency and financial implications.  I regret to advise you that following the review of your job as Roofer will be deleted with effect form (sic) 18 March 1996.

I can confirm that you will be continuing work, until your work allocation has been completed.  Once this work has been completed you will assume the status of redeployee and your redeployment notice period will commence.  The period of corporate redeployment is limited to three months and every attempt will be made to make you one offer of suitable alternative employment during this time.  However if this has not been possible by the end of your three months period, I regret your contract of employment will be terminated on the grounds of redundancy.

Once your work is nearing completion I will write to you again in connection with your redeployment.

In the meantime, if you wish to discuss the implications of redeployment and redundancy in more detail, please contact Kirsti Townend on 0181 6904366 Ext 222.”

10
On 12 April 1996 the Appellant wrote to Mr Candy in (amongst others) the following terms:

“I am writing further to my letter to you dated 14th March 1996 which informed you that your post as Roofer would be deleted with effect from 18th March 1996.  You were continuing to carry out your duties until your work allocation was completed.

As your work allocation is nearing completion, I am writing to advise you that you will assume the status of redeployee with effect from 13th April 1996. … Your details will therefore be sent to Personnel Division for matching against employment opportunities elsewhere in the Council.  The period of Corporate Redeployment is limited to three months and every attempt will be made to make you one offer of suitable alternative employment during this time.  However, if this has not been possible by the end of your three months period, I regret your contract of employment will be terminated on ground (sic) of redundancy and your last day of service will be 12th July 1996.

…

if you do not wish to be redeployed at all you will leave the Council’s Service on grounds of redundancy.

… 

I understand that you are meeting with Kirsti Townend on Monday 15th April at 2 pm … to discuss the implications of redeployment and redundancy.  ”

11
On 15 April 1996 the Appellant wrote again to Mr Candy in the following terms:

“REDUNDANCY

I am writing to confirm that you will be leaving the Council’s employment on grounds of redundancy.

It has been agreed that your last day of service will be 13th April 1996.  You will receive 12 weeks pay in lieu of your statutory notice period.  

The Director of Finance will write to you shortly after your leaving date about the financial arrangements arising from your redundancy.  In this connection I should make it clear that your redundancy pay will include your statutory entitlement under the Employment Protection (Consolidation) Act 1978.

I would like to take this opportunity to place on record both my and the Council’s appreciation of your service to the people of Lewisham.”

12
It was common ground that Mr Candy received the payments in lieu of notice and in respect of redundancy referred to in the letter of 15 April 1996.  

13
Mr Candy’s application to the Employment Tribunal was received on 18 September 1996.  In that application he asserted that his employment was terminated on 12 July 1996.  In its Notice of Appearance and a statement attached to that notice the Appellant accepted and asserted that Mr Candy’s employment was terminated on 12 July 1996.  If that date is correct his application was in time.

14 
Turning now to Mr Cormack.  As we have said he also received a letter dated 14 March 1996.  However, the bundle of documents contained no letter that is equivalent to the letter dated 12 April 1996 which the Appellant wrote to Mr Candy.  Before us it was explained by Counsel for the Appellant that before the Employment Tribunal Mr Cormack had asserted that he had not received any such letter and the Appellant accepted that due to an administrative oversight no such letter had been sent.  It was therefore surprising that the skeleton argument put in by Counsel on behalf of Mr Cormack contained the following assertion:

“The letters to Mr Cormack were in identical form and their only difference is their dates and the dates they contained.  Mr Cormack’s ‘dismissal’, was not back-dated.”

On being asked about this Counsel for Mr Cormack said that he had not seen a letter equivalent to that dated 12 April 1996 which was sent to Mr Candy and in preparing his skeleton had simply assumed that identical letters had been written to Mr Cormack.  

15
At this stage we pause to comment that it would have been helpful if Counsel for the Appellant, and for the first three Respondents had checked and updated their skeleton arguments by reference to the bundle with which we were provided but which was missing when this matter came before this Tribunal last November.  If they had done so it is likely that the inaccuracy of the point made by Counsel for Mr Cormack in respect of the correspondence would not have occurred and Counsel for the Appellant would have altered the page references in his skeleton to accord with the pages in the bundle with which we were provided.  It would also have been helpful if we had been provided with a chronology in respect of each of the four Respondents cross-referenced to the relevant bundle.  Such updated skeletons and chronology would have spared us time and annoyance in reading the papers in preparation for the hearing and in our judgment would have saved time during the hearing.  

16
On 10 May 1996 the Appellant wrote to Mr Cormack in similar terms to its letter to Mr Candy dated 15 April 1996.  This letter to Mr Cormack followed a memo to the Personnel Department of the Appellant in the following terms:

“I have just been informed that Terry Smith and Dave Cormack will be leaving today.  They both wish to be paid in lieu of notice.”

17
The letter dated 10 May 1996 to Mr Cormack is in the following terms:

“Termination of Contract on the Grounds of Redundancy

I am writing to confirm that you will be leaving the Council’s employment on the grounds of redundancy.

It has been agreed that your last day of service will be 10th May 1996.  You will be paid your 12 weeks statutory notice period in lieu of notice.  

The Director of Finance will write to you shortly after your leaving date about the financial arrangements arising from your redundancy.  In this connection I should make it clear that your redundancy pay will include your statutory entitlement under the Employment Protection (Consolidation) Act 1978.

I would like to take this opportunity to place on record both my and the Council’s appreciation of your service to the people of Lewisham.”

18
Again it was common ground that Mr Cormack received the payments in lieu of notice and in respect of redundancy referred to in the letter dated 10 May 1996.  

19
Mr Cormack’s application to the Employment Tribunal was also received on 18 September 1996.  In it he asserted that his employment terminated on 2 August 1996.  In its Notice of Appearance and a statement attached to it the Appellant accepted and asserted that Mr Cormack’s  employment was terminated on 2 August 1996.

20
We were not referred to any contemporaneous document which referred to Mr Cormack’s employment being terminated on 2 August 1996.  As far as we are aware, and indeed it was common ground before us, there was no such document before the Employment Tribunal and therefore the only information they had which identified 2 August 1996 as the date upon which Mr Cormack’s employment terminated was the application to the Employment Tribunal, the Notice of Appearance and the statement attached to it.  

21
If Mr Cormack’s employment had terminated on 2 August 1996 his application would have been in time.  

22
It follows from what we have said above that if what can be described as the pleadings before the Employment Tribunal are looked at both applications were in time.

23
At the hearing before the Employment Tribunal Counsel for the Appellant took the point that the effective dates of termination of the employment of both Mr Candy and Mr Cormack were earlier than the dates referred to in the “pleadings” and that therefore their applications were out of time.  In making that submission he relied on the letters dated 15 April 1996 and 10 May 1996 (sent respectively to Mr Candy and Mr Cormack) and asserted (a) that both Mr Candy and Mr Cormack left the employment of the Appellant earlier than would have been the case if they had continued on its corporate re-deployment arrangements, (b) that in respect of Mr Candy it was agreed that his last day of service would be 13 April 1996 and (c) that in respect of Mr Cormack it was agreed that his last day of service would be 10 May 1996.  If those dates are the effective dates of termination both applications were out of time.  As to this section 111(2) of the Employment Rights Act 1996 provides as follows:

“(2)
  Subject to subsection (3), an industrial tribunal shall not consider a complaint under this section unless it is presented to the tribunal –

(a)
before the end of the period of three months beginning with the effective date of termination, or 

(b)
within such further period as the tribunal considers reasonable in a case where it is satisfied that it was not reasonably practicable for the complaint to be presented before the end of that period of three months.”

The Extended Reasons

24
As to the issue concerning whether the applications were in time the most relevant paragraphs of the Extended Reasons are as follows, and we quote from the Extended Reasons given in the case concerning Mr Candy:

“6
Having considered the whole of the oral and documentary evidence, and after hearing the factual submissions made by and on behalf of the respective parties, the Tribunal found the following facts proved on the balance of probabilities.

(a)
The applicant was employed by the Respondents as a roofer.  The Applicant was dismissed and the effective date of termination of his employment was 12 July 1996. …

13
An application by the Respondents to strike out the Applicant’s claim as being out of time was refused by the Tribunal on the grounds that:

(a)
on the facts there seemed to be some confusion as to the exact date on which the Applicant ceased employment;

(b)
for this reason the Tribunal exercised its discretion to allow the claim on the basis that it was just and equitable to do so;

(c) 
in reaching this conclusion the Tribunal took into account the fact that the Respondents in their notice of appearance had confirmed that the dates of employment given by the Applicant in his application to the Tribunal were correct and had added an express statement to their notice of appearance stating that the dates were correct.  Additionally the Respondents had not raised the issue of the dates of the Applicant’s employment until the day before the Tribunal hearing.  

The Extended Reasons relating to Mr Cormack were in the same terms.
The manner in which this issue (i.e. the application to strike out) was dealt with at the hearing

25
This appears from the Chairman’s notes.

26
These show that Counsel for the Appellant made the application.  It was opposed by the union representative who appeared for Mr Candy and Mr Cormack, and in doing so he referred to the case of Hutchison v Westward TV Ltd [1977] IRLR at page 69.  That is a case concerning a claim under the Sex Discrimination Act and as is stated in Harvey on Industrial Relations and Employment Law, paragraph T [277]:

“It has been noted that under some jurisdictions a tribunal is empowered to grant an extension of time ‘if, in all the circumstances of the case, it considers that it is just and equitable to do so’, or according to some such formula.  Where these words appear, it has been held that they give the tribunal ‘a wide discretion to do what it thinks is just and equitable in all the circumstances …. they entitle the [employment] tribunal to take into account anything which it judges to be relevant’:  Hutchison v Westward Television Ltd [1977] IRLR 69, [1977] ICR 279, EAT.  The discretion is broader than that given to tribunals under the ‘not reasonably practicable’ formula:  Hawkins v Ball and Barclays Bank plc [1996] IRLR 258 …”

The Chairman’s notes also show that the union representative did not seek an adjournment to enable him to deal with the strike out point and indeed it was common ground before us that this was the case.

27
Further the Chairman’s notes show that submissions on this “strike out point” began at 10.25 am and that the Industrial Tribunal adjourned at 10.47, when it considered its decision and resumed at 11.06.  Shortly before the entry for the timing of the resumption of the hearing the notes show that the Employment Tribunal referred to the correspondence we have referred to above in respect of Mr Candy and to a document dated 8 March 1996 which in estimating the payment that would be due to Mr Cormack included 30 June 1996 as his projected last day of service.  This note also shows that the Tribunal took into account what we have referred to as the pleadings.  Finally the note says this:

“Following the resumption on 11.06:

Decision to allow both applicants late applications on grounds that it is just and equitable.”

28
This does not match up with paragraph 6(a) of the Extended Reasons.  This is because: 


(i)
at this stage the notes show that the Tribunal had not heard oral evidence, and 


(ii)
it indicates that at that stage the Tribunal thought that the applications were late and therefore could not have thought that the effective dates of terminations were as found in paragraph 6(a).

The issues on the strike-out application

29
The first issue is to determine what were the effective dates of termination.  It was argued by Counsel who appeared for Mr Candy and Mr Cormack that the conclusions reached by the Employment Tribunal in paragraph 6(a) of their Extended Reasons relating to both Mr Candy and Mr Cormack were correct.

30
Counsel advanced this argument by reference to the correspondence between the Appellant and Mr Candy.  He made no separate submission in respect of Mr Cormack.  As we explain later in this judgment the argument advanced in respect of Mr Candy relied to a very large extent on the letter dated 12 April 1996 which asserted that the last day of his service would be 12 July 1996.  As we have already mentioned there is no equivalent letter sent by the Appellant to Mr Cormack.  Further, as we have already pointed out, apart from the pleadings in the case there are no documents indicating that Mr Cormack’s employment terminated on 2 August 1996.

31
It follows that the arguments advanced by Counsel for Mr Candy and Mr Cormack in respect of the correspondence with Mr Candy do not apply to Mr Cormack.  Counsel advanced no separate argument on behalf of Mr Cormack.  

32
In any event in our judgment the arguments he advanced on behalf of Mr Candy are bad.  

33
These arguments were that:

(a)
the letter dated 12 April 1996 is in clear terms whereas the letter dated 15 April 1996 is not and therefore when the correspondence is looked at as a whole there is an ambiguity which has the consequence that the date most favourable to Mr Candy, the employee, as the recipient of that correspondence should be taken, and further alternatively 

(b) 
on a true construction of section 97(1) of the Employment Rights Act 1996 the letter dated 12 April 1996 fixes the effective date of termination.

34
As to argument (a) we were referred to Chapman v Letheby & Christopher Ltd [1981] IRLR 440 and in particular to the last three paragraphs of the headnote which reflect the obiter observations in the penultimate paragraph of the judgment.  In our view the short answer to this point is that there is nothing ambiguous about the letter dated 15 April 1996 written to Mr Candy (or the letter in equivalent terms dated 10 May 1996 written to Mr Cormack).  As to this we accept the submission that these letters contain some sloppy drafting if analysed through the eyes of a lawyer.  However, in our judgment these letters have to be construed in their context and against the factual background known to the parties.  When this is done it seems to us that both letters are quite clear and make it quite clear that the agreement reached was that the employments would terminate on respectively 13 April 1996 and 10 May 1996.  Indeed the notes of evidence confirm that this was the understanding of respectively Mr Candy and Mr Cormack.

35
As to point (b) we were referred to TBA Industrial Products v Morland [1982] IRLR 331 and in particular to paragraph 11 of the report which is part of the judgment of Waller LJ.  In that paragraph he says that:

“I must next consider whether or not it can be said that this letter produced a variation or waiver of the original notice by the appellants.  In my opinion there can be no doubt that the appellants could, if they wished, have withdrawn their original notice and served a new notice complying with the date suggested by the respondent.  There then would be no question but that the new notice terminated the employment.  I do not think it is possible to infer that procedure from the facts before us.  Indeed to draw such an inference would require the most liberal interpretation to be given to s.55(4)(a).  It would be necessary to read that ‘the date on which the notice expires’ was followed by the words ‘or any variation thereof’.”

36
We pause to add that section 55(4)(a) as referred to by Waller LJ is in the same terms as section 97(1)(a) of the Employment Rights Act 1996.  Lord Justice Waller goes on at paragraphs 12 and 13 in the report to say this:

“In my judgment the plain words of s.55(4)(a) require that the notice should be causative of the termination.  The only notice in this case which was causative of termination was the notice to terminate in August.  Although the wording of the first paragraph of the respondent’s letter uses the phrase: ‘I now wish to terminate my employment’, those words were an acceptance of the invitation ‘to leave before 2 August’.  Since it was not suggested that this was not a case of determination by notice I see no reason for ignoring the words at the end of the employer’s letter.  This was a case where notice was given by the employer, but the employee was allowed to leave early receiving pay as if he had worked out his notice.

I have come to the conclusion therefore that nothing in this case happened to alter the original notice to terminate in August and accordingly the application was made in time. …”

37
Here the letter dated 12 April is written on a conditional basis and expressly raises the possibility that Mr Candy might not wish to be deployed.  However, in our judgment, even if this was not the case the effect of the agreement recorded in the letter dated 15 April 1996, and of that letter, is that the earlier letter dated 12 April 1996 can no longer be treated as a notice which was causative of the termination of Mr Candy’s employment.  Going back to the judgment of Waller LJ, in our view it follows that the position is the same as if the letter dated 12 April 1996 had been withdrawn and a new means of termination substituted for it.  

38
We have therefore concluded that the TBA case does not assist Mr Candy and that the true position is as both the general law of contract, and indeed common sense, would suggest namely that in circumstances where following the giving of a notice to terminate employment the employer and the employee agree that the employment will come to an end earlier and not in accordance with that notice it is that subsequent agreement that (i) causes the employment to come to an end, and (ii) identifies the date of termination.

39
It was further argued on behalf of Mr Candy that the circumstances of this case did not fall within section 97(1)(b) because, as we understood the argument, it was asserted that this is not a case where an employee’s contract of employment was terminated without notice because a notice had been served.  As we have said in our judgment the effect of what happened was that the notice was withdrawn and therefore, or by reason of the subsequent arrangement and agreement, it was not the effective cause of termination.  It follows that (a) the letter dated 12 April 1996 was not causative of the termination, (b) it is therefore not a notice within section 97(1)(a), and (c) in our judgment section 97(1)(b) applies.

40
Returning to Mr Cormack in our judgment the letter dated 10 May 1996 contained no ambiguity and makes it clear that what was arranged and agreed was that his last day of service was to be 10 May 1996.

41
In our judgment the dates set in the letters dated 12 April 1996 and 10 May 1996 as the last days of service of respectively Mr Candy and Mr Cormack identify the effective dates of termination as defined by section 97 (see Crank v Her Majesty’s Stationery Office [1985] ICR 1).  Further, in the case of Mr Cormack there is no other document that we have identified, or which has been referred to us, that expressly identifies a date of termination and in particular a contemporaneous document which identifies a date of termination of 2 August 1996.  

42
It is unfortunate, but unfortunately a common feature of the Extended Reasons in these cases, that the Employment Tribunal give no reasons for their conclusions relating to the effective dates of termination.  However, for the reasons we have given in our judgment their conclusions as to them are wrong.  It follows in our judgment that the effective dates of termination of the employment of Mr Candy and Mr Cormack are respectively 13 April 1996 and 10 May 1996.

43
It follows that both their applications were outside the time limit set by section 111 of the Employment Rights Act 1996.  

44
We therefore turn to the question whether the Employment Tribunal either

(i)
extended time, or

(ii)
made an error in law in deciding to extend time.

45
We confess that when we read the Extended Reasons we read paragraph 13 as a paragraph concerning a decision to extend time notwithstanding its inconsistency with the earlier conclusion in paragraph 6(a) of the Extended Reasons as to the effective dates of termination.  However, Counsel on behalf of Mr Candy and Mr Cormack argued that this was not the effect of paragraph 13 and that what the Employment Tribunal were doing in paragraph 13 was providing reasons why they had reached the conclusions they had as to the effective dates of termination.  In particular it was asserted by Counsel that the reference in paragraph 13(b) was a reflection of his argument based on ambiguity.  We reject this submission for the following reasons, namely in our view:

(a)
it is not a natural reading of paragraph 13,

(b)
the ambiguity argument was never raised before the Employment Tribunal,

(c)
in any event, the same ambiguity argument could not have been raised in respect of Mr Cormack but paragraph 13 appears in identical terms in both Extended Reasons, and

(d)
it appears from the Chairman’s notes that the Tribunal did indeed extend time albeit at that stage of the hearing on the basis that the applications were late.  

46
In our judgment in context a proper reading of paragraph 13 of the Extended Reasons is that it is a paragraph which records the decision and reasoning of the Employment Tribunal to extend time on the hypothesis that the applications were late.  We therefore have to consider whether in doing so they made an error of law.

47
Unfortunately, in our judgment, it is clear that the Tribunal did make such an error.  This is because (a) they failed to refer to the statutory test set out in section 111, and (b) they do refer to a “just and equitable” approach which appears in other statutory regimes.  As the passage we have quoted earlier from Harvey demonstrates the two tests are different.  

48
We have further considered whether notwithstanding this error of law we should refuse this aspect of the appeal on the basis that the decision of the Employment Tribunal to extend time is plainly and unarguably right (see Dobie v Burns International Security Services UK Ltd [1984] IRLR 329 and Harvey on Industrial Relations and Employment Law paragraph T 1713).

49
We have concluded that in the absence of any findings, or any reference in the Chairman’s notes, as to why the applications were not made earlier we cannot properly conclude that despite the reference by the Employment Tribunal to the wrong statutory test their decision to extend time was plainly and unarguably right.  In this context it has to be remembered that both Mr Candy and Mr Cormack were represented by their union and there is no explanation why in those circumstances it was not reasonably practicable for their complaints to be presented in time.

50
Given that the dismissals took place in 1996, and we recognise that there is some force in the argument that having regard to the points made in paragraph 13(c) (i) there was confusion on both sides as to the effective dates of termination, (ii) this demonstrates that it was not reasonably practical to present the complaints in time, and (iii) a reasonable extension would be until the expiry of three months from the dates specified in what we have referred to as the pleadings, we confess that we have reached this conclusion with some reluctance.  But in our judgment in the absence of any explanation from the complainants or their union as to:


(a) 
why they specified 12 July and 2 August 1996 as their dates of termination in their applications when they knew that they had left and been paid in lieu of notice in accordance with the letters dated 15 April and 10 May 1996, and 


(b)
why the complaints were not presented earlier,

we are driven to conclude that it cannot be said that it is clear that on a proper application of the correct statutory test the Employment Tribunal would have extended time.

The Appeals against the findings that each of the Respondents were Unfairly Dismissed
51
We heard argument from all four Respondents on these appeals.  As we have said the fourth Respondent was separately represented.

52
There is an overlap between the points that are relevant to all four appeals.  Indeed prior to the letter of  14 March 1996 (see paragraph 9 above) which was sent to all the Respondents in our judgment there is effectively a complete overlap.  Thereafter in broad terms there is a difference between the position of (i) Mr Candy and Mr Cormack, on the one hand and (ii) Mr Hartigan and Mr Hill on the other because the first two decided not to take part in the redeployment arrangements, left and were paid 12 weeks pay in lieu of notice.  Additionally there are some differences between the positions of Mr Hartigan and Mr Hill.

53
In general terms the Appellant asserts that:

(i)
the Extended Reasons demonstrate that the Employment Tribunal has erred in law in particular respects in their approach and reasoning, or alternatively 

(ii)
the Extended Reasons do not satisfy the standard described in Meek v City of Birmingham District  Council  [1987] IRLR 250 in particular paragraph 8.

54
In general terms whilst acknowledging some shortcomings in the Extended Reasons the Respondents submit that the Employment Tribunal were dealing with issues well known to members of such tribunals and the Extended Reasons show that the Employment Tribunal applied the correct principles of law and adequately inform the Appellant why they lost and the Respondents why they won.  Additionally or alternatively they assert that if the correct principles are applied to the facts found by the Employment Tribunal it is clear that they reached the right conclusion.

55
Again with some reluctance we have concluded that all four appeals must be allowed and remitted to a different Employment Tribunal.  We say with some reluctance because we acknowledge that:


(i)
unfortunately a long time has passed since the dismissals,

(ii)
in large measure the need for this appeal and the grounds upon which it is allowed relate to the manner in which the Employment Tribunal conducted the proceedings and prepared the Extended Reasons, and

(iii)
if and when the substantive complaints are reheard by a new Employment Tribunal it may be that the general submissions made on behalf of the Respondents that the conclusions of this Employment Tribunal were correct will be shown to be well founded.

However in our judgment these factors cannot properly support a conclusion that the appeals be dismissed.

56
The most relevant paragraphs of the Extended Reasons are paragraphs 4 to 11.  We quote from the Extended Reasons in the case of Mr Hill.  They are in the following terms:

“4.  There was a degree of conflict between the evidence given by the Applicant and that which was given on behalf of the Respondents by their witnesses.  The Tribunal preferred wherever there was conflict, the evidence of the Applicant to that of the Respondents because the Respondents evidence was in places inconsistent and un-corroborated.

Documentary Evidence

5.  A bundle of documents marked by the Tribunal ‘A1’ was submitted to the Tribunal in support of the claim.  A bundle of documents marked by the Tribunal ‘R1’ was submitted to the Tribunal in support of the defence.  These were not agreed bundles of documents.

6.  Having considered the whole of the oral and documentary evidence, and after hearing the factual submissions made by and on behalf of the respective parties, the Tribunal found the following facts proved on the balance of probabilities.

(a)
The Applicant was employed by the Respondents as a roofer.  The Applicant was dismissed and the effective date of termination of his employment was 30 June 1996.

(b)
He worked for a specialist roofing team whose work had to be tendered for in competition with private sector roofing companies.

(c)
Lewisham Council decided not to allocate money to be spent on capital roofing work (ie re-roofing as opposed to repairs and maintenance which were carried out by a different department), as a result of which the decision was made to close down the sector in which the Applicant worked.

(d)
The Union to which the Applicant belonged was informed of the Council’s decision and was involved in negotiations which resulted in the redundancies of the twelve members of the task force team to which the Applicant belonged.

(e)
One group meeting was held which the Applicant attended telling the group that redundancies were possible.  This was followed a week later by the redundancy itself.  No individual consultation took place with the Applicant before his redundancy was effected.  Very little assistance was given to the Applicant in looking for alternative employment or training within the Respondent organisation or outside.  The only alternative job which the Applicant was offered was as a road sweeper.  He attended the interview for that job but admitted to the Tribunal that he did not want the job which he did not consider to be suitable alternative employment to his job as a roofer.  No offer was made to him following this interview.  He was told that this was the only job available within the Respondent organisation.  He considered himself unsuitable for office jobs but would have considered labouring work.

7.  The Applicant was dismissed and the effective date of termination of his employment was 30 June 1996.

8.  Under section 98(1) of the Employment Rights Act 1996 the employer must show the reason for the dismissal and that it was a reason falling within section 98(2) of the Act.  In this case the category of such reason for the purposes of section 98(2) Employment Rights Act 1996 was redundancy.

9.  Under section 98(4) of the Employment Rights Act 1996 the Tribunal must decide whether or not the dismissal was fair having regard to the reason shown by the employer and having regard to the circumstances of the case, including the size and administrative resources of the employer’s undertaking and whether the employer acted reasonably in treating the Applicant’s misconduct as sufficient reason for dismissing the employee.

10.  In the light of the circumstances of this case the Tribunal considers that the Respondents acted unreasonably within the scope of section 98(4) in that:

(a)
Although the Respondents consulted with the Union about the redundancies (which affected a group of employees of which the Applicant was a member), it failed properly to consult with the Applicant about his own impending redundancy.

(b)
The Respondents employ approximately 10,000 employees within their organisation and the Tribunal finds that the Respondents did not apply themselves sufficiently to the question of relocating the Applicant in an alternative position.  The Applicant was employed as a roofer but had during the course of his employment with the Respondents undertaken other building repair and maintenance work and other general labouring work as required by the Respondents.

11.  On behalf of the Applicant it was submitted that the Respondents had committed a grave breach of duty by failing to consult personally with the Applicant prior to making him redundant.  It was also submitted that a genuine redundancy situation did not exist since there was evidence that work which was normally undertaken by the Applicant’s team was being given to sub-contractors.  The Applicant was unable to tender for work as a sub-contractor because he did not meet the criteria laid down by the Respondents for tendering by sub-contractors.  On behalf of the Respondents it was submitted that there was a genuine redundancy situation and that the union had agreed that the pool for the redundancy should consist only of the task force team and not of the whole maintenance and repair section of the Council.  They submitted that there had been consultation with the Applicant’s union and group consultation with the employees.  It was submitted that even if the Tribunal did find the dismissal to be unfair the Polkey principle would apply.”

The Extended Reasons in the three other cases are in substantially similar terms, and in particular the beginning of paragraph 6(e), and paragraphs 10 and 11 are in the same, or very similar, terms.  The only real differences in the  wording of the Extended Reasons relate to small differences concerning the consultation that took place concerning redeployment. But notwithstanding such differences and the fact that both Mr Candy and Mr Cormack left and were paid wages in lieu of notice paragraph 10 (b) is common to all cases.

57
The position relating to consultation falls to be considered before and after the letter dated 14 March 1996 (see paragraph 9 above).  This letter notified the Applicants that their jobs as roofers were being deleted and that if they were not redeployed their employments would be terminated on the grounds of redundancy.  

58
As to the period before 14 March 1996 it was common ground that the Appellant (a) had consulted with  the union who had agreed that the pool for selection of those to be made redundant was to be restricted to the Task Force Roofing Team, (b) held a group meeting attended by all the Applicants and (c) had not had any individual consultation with any of the Applicants. The Appellant argued before us that there was a second group meeting at a stage when it had been decided at the suggestion of the union that the selection pool was to be restricted to the Task Force Roofing Section.  But in our judgment the memorandum dated 12 March 1996 supports the view that this was a meeting to inform the employees of a decision rather than a meeting to consult and therefore the Appellants’ criticism of the Employment Tribunal in finding that there was only one group meeting in advance of the decision relating to redundancy (or as the Employment Tribunal put it the redundancy itself) is not well founded.

59
After the letter of 14 March 1996 there are differences between the position of each of the Applicants concerning consultation but on any view these consultations or meetings were not extensive and, as we understand the Extended Reasons, the focus of the Employment Tribunal’s approach in respect of this period was on the overall efforts made by the Appellant to find alternative employment.  We base this conclusion primarily on (i) the approach of the Employment Tribunal that “the redundancy was effected” before any individual consultation  (this phrase appears in paragraph 6(e) of all the Extended Reasons with the exception of those relating to Mr Hartigan but they, like the others, state that “the redundancy itself” followed one week after the group meeting), (ii) the reference in paragraph 10(a) to a failure to consult “about his impending redundancy” and (iii) the terms of  paragraph 10(b).  We see and accept the force in this approach.

60
It is apparent from the Chairman’s notes that (i) the Appellant maintained that it acted reasonably within s. 98(4) of the Employment Rights Act having regard in particular to its consultation with the union prior to the decision to restrict the pool for selection to the Task Force Roofing Team followed by the operation of its redeployment programme or scheme, and (ii)  in support of that argument it relied on the decision in Polkey v Dayton Ltd.  [1988] ICR 142.  The Polkey principle is referred to in paragraph 12 of the Extended Reasons.   In its notice of appeal and, in argument before us, the Appellant also relied on King and others v Eaton Ltd  [1996] IRLR 199 and Huddersfield Parcels v Sykes [1981] IRLR 115 in support of its argument that by consulting the union it acted reasonably.

61
The Respondents to the appeal (the Applicants below) pointed out and we accept that:



(a) 
consultation with a union over selection criteria does not of itself release an employer from considering with the employee individually his being identified for redundancy (see for example Mugford v Midland Bank [1997] ICR 399, to which they referred us), and



(b)
here the union had a conflict or potential conflict of interest which, together with the fact that the Task Force Roofing Team was a small one, supported the assertion that if it was not reasonable, or within the band of reasonable conduct of a reasonable employer, for the Appellant not to consult the Applicants individually before deciding to close down the Task Force Roofing Team.

In our judgment both these points are an example of the approach to the assessment of reasonableness referred to in Duffy v Yeomans & Partners Ltd [1995] ICR 1 at 8 B/C (to which we were referred by Counsel for Mr Hill).

62
We therefore agree with the Respondents that it was open to the Employment Tribunal to find that the Appellant acted unreasonably, and the dismissal was unfair, notwithstanding the fact that the Appellant consulted with the union and that the Employment Tribunal’s decision cannot be successfully attacked simply because it does not refer to the King case or the Huddersfield Parcels case.

63
The Respondents went on to submit that the cases before us and the Employment Tribunal did not have any remarkable features, that the Polkey case is well known, that the finding or inference in paragraph 10(b) of the Extended Reasons is an obvious and correct one, and that when the Extended Reasons are read as a whole it is apparent why the Employment Tribunal concluded that the Appellant acted unreasonably and the  dismissal was unfair and that in doing so the Employment Tribunal did not err in law.

64
We agree that these cases do not have any remarkable features, but we do not accept the remainder of this submission.

65
The most relevant passages in the Polkey  case [1988] ICR 142 are in the speeches of Lord Mackay at 153 A/B and of Lord Bridge at 162H to 163C (which are cited in the Duffy case to which we were referred).  As these passages make clear they relate to the assessment whether the employer acted reasonably or unreasonably for the purposes of s. 98(4) Employment Rights Act, and thus to the question whether the dismissal was fair or unfair.  They also make clear that in dealing with that statutory question that (i)  the question whether, if the employer had acted differently he might have dismissed the employee is irrelevant (153E), and (ii) thus the question whether it would have made any difference to the outcome if the employer had acted differently is irrelevant (163B).  On the assessment of reasonableness required by the statute it is what the employer did and not what he might have done that is relevant but in considering whether what he did was reasonable it is right to consider whether the employer could reasonably have concluded in the light of the circumstances known at the time of dismissal that consultation or warning would be utterly useless (153F), or whether, in the exceptional circumstances of the particular case, the procedural steps normally appropriate would have been futile, could not have altered the decision to dismiss and therefore could be dispensed with (163C).  This is the Polkey principle or approach to the assessment of reasonableness for the purposes of s 98(4) Employment Rights Act that the Appellant invited the Employment Tribunal to apply and as a matter of law they should have applied.

66
As is made clear by Lord Bridge at [1988] ICR at 163D to 164C this Polkey principle or approach is different to the issue that arises after it has been found that the employer acted unreasonably, and thus that the dismissal was unfair, on the assessment of remedy and compensation.

67
In our judgment a fair reading of the Extended Reasons demonstrates either that the Employment Tribunal did not apply or consider the Polkey principle or approach to the assessment of reasonableness, or that they have not properly explained how they have done so and why, having regard to it, they have reached the conclusion that the Appellant acted unreasonably and thus that the dismissal were unfair.  We are of this view because:

(1)
The sentence in paragraph 12 of the Extended Reasons that:

 “It was submitted that even if the Tribunal did find the dismissal to be unfair the Polkey principle would apply.” 

does not accurately or properly reflect that principle as to the assessment of reasonableness, or (as appears from the Chairman’s notes) the Appellant’s submission relating to it.  Indeed it supports the view that what the Employment Tribunal had in mind was that the Polkey principle applied after it had been found that the dismissal was unfair and thus the points referred to by Lord Bridge at 163D to 164C as to remedy and compensation and not to the assessment of reasonableness and thus the issue whether the dismissals were unfair.

(2)
The Extended Reasons do not deal with the issue why, in the circumstances of these cases and having regard to the Polkey principle, the Employment Tribunal concluded that the Appellant (a) failed to properly consult the Applicants, or (b) why that founded their conclusion that the Appellant acted unreasonably, or (c) why the consultation with the union and the group meeting did not mean that the Appellant acted reasonably.

(3)
Notwithstanding the submissions urged on us on behalf of the Respondents we do not accept that it is clear that on a proper application of the Polkey  principle or approach to the assessment of reasonableness an Employment Tribunal on the facts found in the Extended Reasons would be bound to conclude that the dismissals were unfair (see  Dobie v Burns International Security Services UK Ltd [1984] IRLR 329 and Harvey on Industrial Relations and Employment Law paragraph T 1713).

(4)
In our judgment it is not obvious why the fact that the Appellant employs 10,000 employees leads to the conclusion that they did not apply themselves sufficiently to the question of relocating the Applicants, particularly when their skills and earning levels are not referred to by the Employment Tribunal.  Further in our judgment this conclusion is not supported or adequately supported by paragraph 4 of the Extended Reasons.

Overall Conclusion
68
For the reasons we have given we allow these appeals.

69
As a consequence we remit all four cases to a differently constituted Employment Tribunal who in the cases relating to Mr Candy and Mr Cormack will deal with the issue of extension of time (and thus jurisdiction) and will only go on to deal with their substantive claims if they conclude that they have jurisdiction.

70
In view of the time that has passed since the dismissals we express the hope that an early date can be fixed for the hearing of these cases by the Employment Tribunal.
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